# S191747

# 13

## In the Supreme Court of the State of

## California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

٧.

JOSE SAUCEDA-CONTRERAS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No.	SUPREME COURT					
	MAR 2 8 2011					
	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk					
6.	Deputy					

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G041831 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 07NF0170 The Honorable Richard Toohey, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

When a suspect is advised of his *Miranda*<sup>1</sup> rights, and responds, "If you can bring me a lawyer... that way I can tell you everything that I know and everything that I need to tell you and someone to represent me," may an officer ask questions to clarify whether the suspect wished to invoke his *Miranda* rights?

#### **GROUNDS FOR REVIEW**

A grant of review is necessary in this case, pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b) (1) to secure uniformity of decision and settle an important issue of law.

Sauceda-Contreras' first degree murder conviction was reversed after the majority found a *Miranda* violation when it interpreted his initial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436 [16 L.Ed.2 694, 86 S.Ct.1602].

response to the *Miranda* admonition as being an unambiguous request for counsel. The third justice on the panel filed a dissenting opinion after finding the response had been an inquiry as to if and when he could get an attorney. Another interpretation of the response is that Sauceda-Contreras was under the impression he could not speak to investigators on his own and believed an attorney's presence was required in order to be able to talk to them.

Because the majority found Sauceda-Contreras' initial response had been an unambiguous request for counsel, it found *all* questioning should have immediately stopped and the questions asked to clarify his intent violated his rights under *Miranda*. However, by his words, Sauceda-Contreras also expressed a willingness and a need to speak to the detective. The complete exchange between the police officer and Sauceda-Contreras reflects that he knowingly waived his rights under *Miranda*. Review is necessary to resolve the existing ambiguity in the law as to how law enforcement officers should proceed when an arrestee mentions an attorney, but at the same time demonstrates he is willing to waive his rights and talk to investigators.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In an information filed by the Orange County District Attorney, Jose Sauceda-Contreras was charged with murdering Martha Patricia Mendoza on January 10, 2007, in violation of Penal Code section 187, subdivision (a). (2 CT 308-309.) On November 12, 2008, trial counsel for Sauceda-Contreras made a verbal motion to suppress his recorded police interview on the basis that it had been obtained in violation of *Miranda* as he had requested an attorney, but the officer continued to ask questions with the intent "to overcome his request for a lawyer." (1 RT 70-71.) The trial court, which had watched the DVD of the interview, denied the

Miranda motion because it found appellant had been properly advised of his rights and had answered three "clarifying questions" by affirming he was willing to talk to the police. (1 RT 72.) A jury found Sauceda-Contreras guilty of first degree murder on November 26, 2008. (2 CT 453, 513.) On March 13, 2009, he was sentenced to 25 years to life in prison. (2 CT 568.)

The Court of Appeal reversed the judgment after it found Sauceda-Contreras' right to counsel had been violated when the officer continued to ask him questions after he unambiguously requested an attorney. (Opin. at 16.) An associate justice filed a dissenting opinion as he found Sauceda-Contreras' initial response had actually been a request for information that invited a response. (Dissent at 1-2.) Respondent filed a petition for rehearing that presented the Court of Appeal with a third way of interpreting the initial response. The panel majority denied the petition for rehearing, but the dissenting justice was of the opinion it should be granted.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Anaheim fire fighters discovered the burning body of Martha Mendoza in a metal trash can in the back yard of Sauceda-Contreras' residence after neighbors called 9-1-1 when they smelled smoke, burning hair and burning flesh. Sauceda-Contreras was seen adding gasoline to the fire in the can. (1 RT 113-116, 120, 165.) When fire fighters arrived, Sauceda-Contreras physically prevented them from entering the yard and said he was just cooking a pig for a planned party. (1 RT 159-161.) The same neighbors who called 9-1-1 had overheard portions of an argument between a man and a woman at the house one day earlier. During the argument, the woman said something about how if he could not give her money, he should let her go so she could get some. The neighbor then

heard the sound of a body hitting a wall, followed by the sound of a woman weeping. (1 RT 121-124.)

Sauceda-Contreras, who spoke little English, was arrested and taken to an interview room at the police station. A female police officer who was fluent in Spanish and English acted as the interpreter for him and a homicide detective. (2 RT 414-415.) The following exchange occurred:

[Officer]: You have the right to remain silent. Do you understand?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: Yes.

[Officer]: Whatever you say can be used against you in court. Do you understand?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: Yes.

[Officer]: You have the right to have a lawyer present before and during this interrogation. Do you understand?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: Yes I understand.

[Officer]: If you would like a lawyer but you cannot afford one, one can be appointed to you for free before the interrogation if you wish. Do you understand?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: Yes I understand.

[Officer]: Having in mind these rights that I just read, the detective would like to know if he can speak with you right now?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: If you can bring me a lawyer, that way I[,] I with who . . . that way I can tell you everything that I know and everything that I need to tell you and someone to represent me. (Ellipses in original)

[Officer]: Okay, perhaps you didn't understand your rights. Um... what the detective wants to know right now is if you're willing to speak to him right now without a lawyer present?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: Oh, okay that's fine.

[Officer]: The decision is yours.

[Sauceda-Contreras]: Yes.

[Officer]: It's fine?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: A huh, it's fine.

[Officer]: Do you want to speak to him right now?

[Sauceda-Contreras]: Yes.

(2 CT 574-576.)

During the ensuing interview, Sauceda-Contreras never confessed to killing Mendoza, with whom he said he had a rocky relationship for eight years. (3 CT 619-322.) He said she had previously asked him to cremate her body and keep her ashes with him if she were to die. (3 CT 626-628.) Sauceda-Contreras' story about how Mendoza died, and how he found her body kept changing, and he got caught in some lies. (See, e.g., 3 CT 818-823.) He initially said he saw Mendoza's body through the open bathroom door and there were bubbles coming out of her mouth. (3 CT 665-667, 683, 684.) He later said he had knocked on the door and window and finally had to pry open the locked bathroom door. (4 CT 933-935.) He claimed Mendoza had asphyxiated herself by putting his belt around her neck, lying in the bathtub, looping the belt over the spigot, and holding the other end of the belt in her hand. (4 CT 947-952.) Sauceda-Contreras let slip one possible motive for murdering Mendoza, namely that she had threatened to have him deported if he did not give her money. (4 CT 912-913.)

At trial, Mendoza's sister testified Sauceda-Contreras was possessive and controlling of Mendoza and she had heard him threaten her on more than one occasion. Almost a year before Mendoza's death, Sauceda-Contreras told the sister he would rather see Mendoza dead than lose her. (1 RT 191-195.) The pathologist found no stab or gunshot wounds, and there was no evidence of blunt force trauma. He was unable to pinpoint a cause of death because of the severe damage to the body caused by the fire.

Methamphetamine and amphetamine in Mendoza's brain and liver were at lethal levels, but the levels had been elevated or concentrated by the desiccation of the tissues caused by the fire, so it was impossible to determine the ante mortem levels of the drugs. (2 RT 323-329, 363.)

Mendoza's DNA was found on the inside of the belt worn by Sauceda-Contreras when he was arrested. (2 RT 394-396.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

The majority of the Court of Appeal found Sauceda-Contreras' initial response upon being asked if the detective could speak to him "right now," standing alone, was an unambiguous and unequivocal invocation of his right to counsel. (Opin. at p. 16.) Having reached that conclusion, the Court of Appeal found all questioning after that, even the non-coercive questions asked to clarify what appellant wanted to do, should have stopped immediately. (*Ibid.*)

In his dissenting opinion, Justice Aronson found Sauceda-Contreras' response was actually a question asking whether they could bring him an attorney, which also impliedly asked if they could bring him an attorney "right now," since that was when the detective wanted to speak to him. Justice Aronson found that by repeating the question by saying, "what the detective wants to know right now is if you're willing to speak to him right now without a lawyer present," the officer effectively told appellant they could not provide him with an attorney "right now." (Dissent at pp. 1-2.) In other words, Justice Aronson found appellant's response was not an exercise "of his right to cut off questioning," but was instead a question inviting a response. (Dissent at p. 5.)

Respondent had maintained appellant's response was simply unclear and ambiguous and that the police officer was properly allowed to ask questions to clarify or understand exactly what appellant wanted to do.

(RB at pp. 17-23.) In addition to the two interpretations of the response by the majority and Justice Aronson, respondent offered a third interpretation of the meaning of the response in a petition for rehearing. Specifically, that Sauceda-Contreras, who spoke Spanish and apparently had a limited education (see 1 RT 71), was under the impression he could not speak to investigators on his own and believed an attorney's presence was required in order to be able to talk to them. This interpretation of appellant's response makes sense of all of the words he used in the sentence, "If you can bring me a lawyer, that way I[,] I with who . . . that way I can tell you everything that I know and everything that I need to tell you and someone to represent me." It is also consistent with his immediate affirmative response after the officer asked him if he was willing to talk to the detective "right now without a lawyer present." By his words and responses to the non-coercive questions asked to clarify his intent, Sauceda-Contreras affirmatively waived his rights under *Miranda*.

The well-known *Miranda* admonition (advising of the right to remain silent; the right to consult a lawyer and have one appointed if necessary; the right to have a lawyer present during questioning; and the right against self-incrimination) is designed to protect the privilege against compelled self-incrimination from "the *coercive* pressures that can be brought to bear upon a suspect in the context of custodial interrogation." (*Berkemer v. McCarthy* (1984) 468 U.S. 420, 428 [104 S.Ct. 3138, 82 L.Ed.2d 317], italics added.)

In 1966, when Chief Justice Warren penned the holding in *Miranda*, the Court was addressing the then unfortunately widespread practice of law enforcement subjecting arrestees to hours, days, and sometimes weeks of psychologically (and occasionally physically) intimidating interrogations. (*Miranda v. Arizona, supra*, 384 U.S. at 439-458.) The prophylactic remedy designed to prevent coercive interrogations from happening (and false or compelled confessions being made) was to make sure an arrestee

understood his rights, and was willing to waive those rights, before being interviewed by law enforcement. (*Id.*, at 478-479.)

In Smith v. Illinois (1984) 469 U.S. 91[105 S.Ct. 490, 83 L.Ed.2d 488] (the case relied upon by the Court of Appeal in the instant matter), after being advised of his rights to remain silent, to consult an attorney, and have an attorney present during questioning, the arrestee responded, "Uh, yeah. I'd like to do that." The officer finished reading the balance of the Miranda admonition and asked if he was willing to talk without an attorney present. The arrestee said, "Yeah and no, uh, I don't know what's what, really." After the officer said if he agreed to talk, he could stop the interview at any time, the arrestee said, "All right. I'll talk to you then," and eventually confessed to robbery. (Smith v. Illinois, supra, 469 U.S. at 93.) The United States Supreme Court found that following the unambiguous response of, "Uh, yeah. I'd like to do that," the interview should have stopped (citing Edwards v. Arizona (1981) 451 U.S. 477, 484 [101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378], and went on to explain that responses to further questioning "may not be used to cast retrospective doubt on the clarity of the initial request itself. Such subsequent statements are relevant only to the distinct question of waiver." (Smith v. Illinois, supra, 469 U.S. at 99-100.)

In Connecticut v. Barrett (1987) 479 U.S. 523 [107 S.Ct. 828, 93 L.Ed.2d 920], the United States Supreme Court held that the suspect's partial invocation of Fifth Amendment rights (i.e., stating he was willing to talk, but was not willing to provide a written statement without counsel) did not require cessation of all questioning. The Supreme Court specifically rejected a contention that the partial invocation of Fifth Amendment protections demonstrated such defects in the suspect's understanding of the consequences of his Miranda waiver as to preclude a finding that the partial waiver was made knowingly and intelligently. The Court explained:

We also reject the contention that the distinction drawn by Barrett between oral and written statements indicates an understanding of the consequences so incomplete that we should deem his limited invocation of the right to counsel effective for all purposes. This suggestion ignores Barrett's testimony-and the finding of the trial court not questioned by the Connecticut Supreme Court-that respondent fully understood the *Miranda* warnings. These warnings, of course, made clear to Barrett that '[i]f you talk to any police officers, anything you say can and will be used against you in court.' App at 48A. The fact that some might find Barrett's decision illogical is irrelevant, for we have never 'embraced the theory that a defendant's ignorance of the full consequences of his decisions vitiates their voluntariness.'

(Connecticut v. Barrett, supra, 479 U.S. at 530, fn. omitted.)

The United States Supreme Court addressed the situation where an arrestee makes an ambiguous statement about having an attorney in Davis v. U.S. (1994) 512 U.S. 452 [114 S.Ct. 2150, 129 L.Ed.2d 362]. Davis involved a Navy sailor who was suspected of beating a man to death with a pool cue after the man failed to pay on a lost bet. When he was interviewed by the Naval Investigative Service, he was advised of his rights (similar to the Miranda rights) under Art. 31 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice. (10 U.S.C. § 831.) The sailor waived his rights and agreed to be interviewed. About one half hour into the interview, the sailor said, "Maybe I should talk to a lawyer." The interviewers explained they were not there to violate the rights of the sailor and would stop the interview if he wanted an attorney. However, they needed to clarify if he was asking for an attorney, or just making a comment about an attorney. The sailor said, "'No, I don't want a lawyer," and the interview continued. Later on, after a break, he was re-advised of his rights and this time the sailor said, "I think I want a lawyer before I say anything else," and questioning ceased. The sailor later moved to suppress the statements he made during the interview. (Davis v. U.S., supra, 512 U.S. at 454-455.) Certiorari was

granted to address how to approach equivocal or ambiguous references to counsel during custodial interrogations. (*Id.*, at 456.)

Writing for the Court, Justice O'Connor explained "the "rigid" prophylactic rule" of *Edwards* requires courts to "determine whether the accused actually *invoked* his right to counsel." (*Davis v. U.S., supra*, 512 U.S. at 458, quoting *Smith v. Illinois, supra*, 469 U.S., at 95 (emphasis added by O'Connor, J.).) However, "if a suspect makes a reference to an attorney that is ambiguous or equivocal in that a reasonable officer in light of the circumstances would have understood only that the suspect might be invoking the right to counsel, our precedents do not require the cessation of questioning." (*Davis v. U.S., supra*, 512 U.S. at 459.) Justice O'Connor explained,

Rather, the suspect must unambiguously request counsel. As we have observed, "a statement either is such an assertion of the right to counsel or it is not." Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S., at 97-98, 105 S.Ct., at 494 (brackets and internal quotation marks omitted). Although a suspect need not "speak with the discrimination of an Oxford don," post, at 2364 (SOUTER, J., concurring in judgment), he must articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney. If the statement fails to meet the requisite level of clarity, Edwards does not require that the officers stop questioning the suspect. See Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 433, n. 4, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 1147, n. 4, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986) ("[T]he interrogation must cease until an attorney is present only [i]f the individual states that he wants an attorney") (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

... But when the officers conducting the questioning reasonably do not know whether or not the suspect wants a lawyer, a rule requiring the immediate cessation of questioning "would transform the *Miranda* safeguards into wholly irrational obstacles to legitimate police investigative activity," *Michigan v. Mosley*, 423 U.S. 96, 102, 96 S.Ct. 321, 326, 46 L.Ed.2d 313 (1975), because it would needlessly prevent the police from questioning a suspect in the absence of counsel even if the

suspect did not wish to have a lawyer present. Nothing in *Edwards* requires the provision of counsel to a suspect who consents to answer questions without the assistance of a lawyer. In *Miranda* itself, we expressly rejected the suggestion "that each police station must have a 'station house lawyer' present at all times to advise prisoners," 384 U.S., at 474, 86 S.Ct., at 1628, and held instead that a suspect must be told of his right to have an attorney present and that he may not be questioned after invoking his right to counsel. We also noted that if a suspect is "indecisive in his request for counsel," the officers need not always cease questioning. See *id.*, at 485, 86 S.Ct.at 1633.

(Davis v. U.S., supra, 512 U.S. at 459-460.)

Last year, in *Berghuis v. Thompkins* (2010) 560 U.S.\_\_\_ [130 S.Ct. 2250, 176 L.Ed.2d 1098], the United States Supreme Court again addressed how law enforcement should approach an interview when an arrestee fails to make a clear, unambiguous request for counsel or to remain silent. In *Thompkins*, after the arrestee was advised of his *Miranda* rights, he remained mostly silent throughout a three hour interview. The arrestee only provided some short responses like, "Yeah," or "I don't know." Two hours and 45 minutes into the interview, he was asked if he believed in God. The arrestee answered in the affirmative. He was then asked, "'Do you pray to God to forgive you for shooting that boy down?" The arrestee said, "'Yes,' and looked away." He subsequently moved to suppress his statement by arguing that by his prolonged silence, he had invoked his right to silent. (*Berghuis v. Thompkins, supra*, 130 S.Ct. at 2256-2257.)

Justice Kennedy, writing for the Court, explained,

There is good reason to require an accused who wants to invoke his or her right to remain silent to do so unambiguously. A requirement of an unambiguous invocation of *Miranda* rights results in an objective inquiry that "avoid[s] difficulties of proof and ... provide[s] guidance to officers" on how to proceed in the face of ambiguity. *Davis*, 512 U.S., at 458-459, 114 S.Ct. 2350. If an ambiguous act, omission, or statement could require police to end the interrogation, police would be required to make difficult decisions about an accused's unclear intent and face the

consequence of suppression "if they guess wrong." *Id.*, at 461, 114 S.Ct. 2350. Suppression of a voluntary confession in these circumstances would place a significant burden on society's interest in prosecuting criminal activity. See *id.*, at 459-461, 114 S.Ct. 2350; *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 427, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986). Treating an ambiguous or equivocal act, omission, or statement as an invocation of *Miranda* rights "might add marginally to *Miranda* 's goal of dispelling the compulsion inherent in custodial interrogation." *Burbine*, 475 U.S., at 425, 106 S.Ct. 1135. But "as *Miranda* holds, full comprehension of the rights to remain silent and request an attorney are sufficient to dispel whatever coercion is inherent in the interrogation process." *Id.*, at 427, 106 S.Ct. 1135; see *Davis, supra*, at 460, 114 S.Ct. 2350.

(Berghuis v. Thompkins, supra, 130 S.Ct. at 2260.)

Justice Kennedy also addressed how *Miranda* rights could be implicitly waived. "Where the prosecution shows that a *Miranda* warning was given and that it was understood by the accused, an accused's uncoerced statement establishes an implied waiver of the right to remain silent." (*Berghuis v. Thompkins, supra*, 130 S.Ct. at 2262.)

This Court has also held "when a suspect makes an ambiguous or equivocal statement it will often be good police practice for the interviewing officers to clarify whether or not he actually wants an attorney." (People v. Bacon (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1082, 1105, quoting Davis v. U.S., supra, 512 U.S. at 461; People v. Farnam (2002) 28 Cal.4th 107, 181; People v. Johnson (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1, 27.)

In the instant matter, the record shows the *Miranda* admonition was slowly and carefully provided to Sauceda-Contreras and he answered in the affirmative each time he was asked if he understood the right that was just read to him. After the officer acting as the interpreter asked if the detective could talk to him "right now," Sauceda-Contreras responded, "If you can bring me a lawyer, that way I[,] I with who . . . that way I can tell you everything that I know and everything that I need to tell you and someone

to represent me." (3 CT 606-607.) By that response, while he spoke or asked about them bringing him an attorney, he also expressed his clear desire to speak to them. As this Court explained in *People v. Williams* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 405 (the case relied upon by Justice Aronson in his dissent in the instant matter), "the question of ambiguity in an asserted invocation must include a consideration of the communicative aspect of the invocation – what would a listener understand to be the defendant's meaning." (*Id.*, at 428.)

#### This Court has observed,

The question whether a suspect has waived the right to counsel with sufficient clarity prior to the commencement of interrogation is a separate inquiry from the question whether, subsequent to a valid waiver, he or she effectively has invoked the right to counsel. [Citations.]

With respect to an initial waiver. . . "[a] valid waiver need not be of predetermined *form*, but instead must reflect that the suspect in fact knowingly and voluntarily waived the rights delineated in the *Miranda* decision." (*People v. Cruz* [(2008)] 44 Cal.4th [636,] 667, 80 Cal.Rptr.3d 126, 187 P.3d 970, italics added; see *Berghuis v. Thompkins* [(2010)] 560 U.S. [\_\_,] \_\_, 130 S.Ct. [2250,] 2261.) [*Miranda* "does not impose a formalistic waiver procedure that a suspect must follow to relinquish these rights"].

### (People v. Williams (2010) 49 Cal.4th 405, 427.)

In *Williams*, as the murder suspect was being advised of his rights under *Miranda*, he indicated he was willing to waive his right to remain silent. He subsequently expressed his desire to have an attorney. As it was Saturday, one of the officers explained, "if you want an attorney here while we're talking to you we'll wait till Monday and they'll send a public defender over, unless you can afford a private attorney." This Court found that after it was made clear that there would be a two day delay, the suspect's "final and impatient 'yes, yes, yes' confirms our conclusion that,

once the question whether counsel could be provided immediately had been resolved, [he] had not the slightest doubt that he wished to waive his right to counsel and commence the interrogation." (*People v. Williams, supra*, 49 Cal.4th at 425-427.) This was similar to the situation in the instant matter. As Justice Aronson explained in his dissent, by strictly relying upon the sequential order of the questions and responses, "the majority's analysis in our case would have compelled in *Williams* the suppression of the defendant's subsequent statement because Officer Kneble continued to ask questions, including the entreaty, 'Are you sure?'" (Dissent at 3.)

This Court has explained,

In certain situations, words that would be plain if taken literally actually may be equivocal under an objective standard, in the sense that in context it would not be clear to the reasonable listener what the defendant intends. In those instances, the protective purpose of the *Miranda* rule is not impaired if the authorities are permitted to pose a limited number of followup questions to render more apparent the true intent of the defendant.

(People v. Williams, supra, 49 Cal.4th at 429.)

Sauceda-Contreras was advised of his rights under *Miranda*, and repeatedly agreed to talk to the detective without being tricked or coerced to do so. Respondent prays this Court will grant review in this matter to address the ambiguity as to how law enforcement officers should proceed when an arrestee mentions an attorney, but, at the same time, also expresses a willingness to talk to investigators. As Sauceda-Contreras was fully advised of his *Miranda* rights, his uncoerced statements should be construed as a waiver of those rights.

Dated: March 25, 2011

Respectfully submitted,

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
GARY W. SCHONS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
STEVE OETTING
Supervising Deputy Attorney General

MARILYN L. GEORGE

Deputy Attorney General

whenly-direction

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent

MLG:cjm SD2009701883 80478906.doc

		•					
			•				
				,			
	•						
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
				,			
					-		
		b