IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF) Samurana Canat Na
CALIFORNIA,) Supreme Court No.
Plaintiff and Respondent,) S191747
)
v.) Court of Appeal No.
) G041831
JOSE SAUCEDA-CONTRERAS,) ·
Defendant and Appellant) Superior Court No.
) 07NF0170

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Orange County Superior Court, Honorable Richard F. Toohey, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CRC	
(CRC 8.25(b)	APR 19 2011
Fred	derick K. Ohlrich Clerk
	Deputy

SUPREME COURT

Diane Nichols State Bar No. 174830 P.O. Box 2194 Grass Valley CA 95945 530-477-8448 dianelnichols@aol.com

Attorney for Defendant And Appellant Jose Sauceda-Contreras

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

ARGUMENTS

THIS COURT NEED NOT GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE THERE IS NO SPLIT OF AUTHORITY OR DECISIONAL CONFLICT, THE QUESTION IS NOT AN IMPORTANT ISSUE OF LAW BUT A ROUTINE APPLICATION OF SETTLED LAW TO THE FACTS OF THE CASE, AND THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL IS SOUND AND WELL-REASONED.

Under rule 8.500(b)(1), there is no necessity for review in the present case. First, this court's guidance is not needed because there is no lack of uniformity of decision among the appellate courts. Second, any decision by this court would have limited impact, because there is no important question of law as the case turns on its facts and involves an everyday application of principles settled by the United States Supreme Court to a specific fact pattern unlikely to recur in cases. Third, the appellate decision in this case is sound and well-reasoned, so review is not required. Lastly, were this court to grant review and reverse the Court of Appeal after briefing and decision, there are a number of unresolved constitutional issues which would need to be remanded to the Court of Appeal for a decision. This court should deny review.

First, under Grounds for Review, respondent maintains that this court must review the decision "to secure uniformity of decision." (PTR 1.) However, respondent has not cited any case law showing a decisional conflict among the appellate courts, between California law and federal

law, or between another court's decision and that of the appellate court in this unpublished decision. (PTR 1-2.)

Respondent also asserts this court should review the decision "to resolve the existing ambiguity in the law as to how law enforcement officers should proceed when an arrestee mentions an attorney, but at the same time demonstrates he is willing to waive his rights and talk to investigators." (PTR 2, emphasis added.) Putting aside for the moment respondent's interpretation of what appellant demonstrated by his answer, there is no ambiguity in case law, and respondent has not cited any decisions showing such existing ambiguity. The question of what police are to do when a suspect speaks of an attorney and expresses a willingness to talk is already answered by Smith v. Illinois (1984) 469 U.S. 91 [105] S.Ct. 490, 83 L.Ed.2d 488] ("Smith"), which states that all questioning must cease after a clear and unequivocal request for an attorney and Davis v. United States (1994) 512 U.S. 452, 459, 461-462 [114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362] ("Davis"), which states that objectively ambiguous or equivocal references to an attorney do not require the cessation of questioning.

The cases respondent has cited in the Argument section do not show any decisional split or existing ambiguity of law. (PTR 6-14.) For example, respondent cites *Berghuis v. Thompkins* (2010) 560 U.S. ______ [130 S.Ct. 2250, 176 L.Ed.2d 1098] but never argues that its reasoning

contradicts the result reached here. (PTR 11-12.) Indeed, in *Berghuis v*. *Thompkins*, the United States Supreme Court merely re-affirms both the reasoning and result of *Davis, supra,* 512 U.S. at p. 462, that invocations be unambiguous and that compulsion is inherent in custodial interrogation. (*Berghuis v. Thompkins, supra,* 560 U.S. ____, ___ [130 S.Ct., at p., 2260.)

Nor does respondent ever explain how People v. Williams (2010) 49 Cal.4th 405 ("Williams"), indicates a split of authority or illustrates any ambiguity in decisional law. (PTR 13-14.) As the opinion here points out, its result does not conflict with that in *Williams*. (Typed opn., p. 21.) Williams is simply inopposite to the present case on its facts. (Typed opn., p. 20.) Unlike the defendant in *Williams*, appellant did not clearly indicate he would relinquish his right to remain silent before the exchange at issue; he responded to the officer's compound question about silence and an attorney. (Typed opn., p. 20.) Unlike the defendant in Williams, appellant did not respond with a question; he answered that he wanted a lawyer. (Typed opn., p. 20.) To make Williams applicable, the dissent was forced to appellant's answer as two questions, (1) whether a lawyer could be brought and (2) whether one could be provided *right now*. (Typed opn., p. 20.) As the opinion points out, the officer did not construe appellant's answer as the dissent did; she did not tell appellant whether a lawyer could be brought or when a lawyer could be provided. (Typed opn., p. 20.) Instead, having failed to secure a waiver the first time, she tried to secure a

wavier again, more forcefully this time, by telling appellant he did not understand the rights he had just demonstrated he quite fully understood by exercising them. (Typed opn., pp. 20-21.)

Second, respondent seeks review on the grounds this court needs to "settle an important issue of law." (PTR 1.) Respondent has failed to demonstrate the importance of the issue being raised. The Court of Appeal's decision is a routine and straightforward application of existing law under Miranda and Smith, supra, 469 U.S. at p. 98 to the facts of this case. The result here is more dependent on the facts than the law. Any decision after review by this court would have very limited impact, as shown by the narrowness of the question respondent wants resolved, which asks whether an officer may ask clarifying questions when a suspect answers just like appellant did -- "If you can bring me a lawyer " (PTR 1.) Because the answer depends on the unique fact pattern of the colloquy, whatever decision this court reaches is unlikely to have widespread impact, add substantially to the body of case law, or assist police, trial courts, or appellate courts in any meaningful way.

Third, the appellate decision is sound and well-reasoned in contrast to respondent's position. Respondent argues that, when appellant responded with "If you can bring me a lawyer . . .", "while he spoke or asked about them bringing him an attorney, he also expressed his clear desire to speak to them." (PTR 12-13.) Respondent parses appellant's

desire to speak to police from his expressed desire to do so only with the guiding hand of counsel. This reasoning is illogical, because the right to an attorney is the right to have an attorney present during interrogation. As respondent would have it, any suspect unfortunate enough to reiterate the right verbatim to his interrogator -- "I would like to have an attorney present during interrogation" or "I will speak to you only with an attorney present" -- has spoken ambiguously, because he has also expressed a desire to speak to police.

The Court of Appeal, on the other hand, properly concluded that, "[a]fter being advised it was his right to have a lawyer present during the interrogation, [appellant] essentially responded -- bring me a lawyer and I will talk." (Typed opn., p. 18.) As the court concludes, appellant "clearly understood his right to counsel and invoked it" and "[h]is straightforward and clear response did not require clarification" (typed opn., p. 18).

Review of this decision will not alter this well founded conclusion.

Finally, were this court to grant respondent's petition for review, appellant does not request that this court address the additional issues presented to the Court of Appeal but not mentioned in respondent's petition for review. (See Rule 8.500(a)(2).) Appellant notes that the Court of Appeal declined to reach multiple federal constitutional issues of importance, including a warrantless search, sufficiency of the evidence as to both an act causing death and premeditation and deliberation, and an

state. The issues not reached by the Court of Appeal in light of its reversal on the *Miranda* issue are listed in the Statement of the Case, *ante*, and are argued in Appellant's Opening Brief and Appellant's Reply Brief.

However, were this court to grant review on the *Miranda* issue and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal, appellant will ask this court to remand the matter to the Court of Appeal with directions that the appellate court consider those issues in the first instance. (See, e.g., *In re Manuel G*. (1997) 16 Cal.4th 805, 814, fn. 3.)

There is no necessity for this court to grant review where there is no conflict of decisional law, there is no significant issue of law, the appellate court's decision is sound, and respondent's reasoning is faulty. This court should deny review.

CONCLUSION

There is no need for this court to grant review because there is no split of decisional authority, the case does not present an important question of law because it is fact dependent and involves routine application of settled law to the facts, the appellate court resolved the matter correctly, and respondent's reasoning is faulty. This court should not grant review.